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TRANSCRIPT OF THE LOUISIANA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 1 

TRANSPORTATION CITATION HEARINGS HELD ON MARCH 5, 2026, 2 

IN BATON ROUGE, LOUISIANA BEFORE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW 3 

JUDGE MELISSA FREY. 4 

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE MELISSA FREY:  Good morning.  Today 5 

is March 5, 2026.  I’m Administrative Law Judge Melissa Frey.  We are here this 6 

morning for transportation citation matters.  I believe there are nine matters on the 7 

docket for this morning. 8 

 9 

DOCKET NO. T-37790 10 

JUDGE FREY:  The first matter I am going to call on the docket this morning is 11 

Docket Number T-37790 - Louisiana Public Service Commission versus Swifty 12 

Movers L.L.C.  In re:  Alleged violation of Louisiana Revised Statutes 45:161 13 

through 180.1, by engaging in activities related to moving household goods prior 14 

to complying with the requirements of Louisiana Revised Statutes 45:164(E) and 15 

General Order dated March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the 16 

requirements of General Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  Would the parties 17 

present please make their appearances for the record? 18 

MR. PAUL RACHAL:  Paul Rachal on behalf of Staff. 19 

JUDGE FREY:  Mr. Rachal, will you be appearing on behalf of Staff in every case 20 

we’re going to call this morning? 21 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes, Your Honor. 22 
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JUDGE FREY:  I will consider this a continuing appearance.  Let the record reflect 1 

that there is no one present on behalf of Swifty Movers.  How does the Staff plan 2 

to move forward this morning? 3 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue to April 2, 2026. 4 

JUDGE FREY:  A ruling on the motion to continue and a notice rescheduling this 5 

matter to April 2, 2026 will be issued accordingly. 6 

 7 

DOCKET NO. T-37796 8 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37796 - 9 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus AD Movers, LLC.  In re:  Alleged 10 

violation of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by engaging in 11 

activities related to moving household goods prior to complying with the 12 

requirements of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E) and General Order dated 13 

March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the requirements of General Order 14 

dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  Mr. Rachal is present for Commission Staff and 15 

there is no one present on behalf of AD Movers, LLC.  How does the Staff plan to 16 

move forward this morning? 17 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue without date. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  A ruling on the motion to continue without date will be issued 19 

accordingly, granting the motion.  20 
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DOCKET NO. T-37797 1 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37797 - 2 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps, LLC.  3 

In re:  Alleged violation of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by 4 

engaging in activities related to moving household goods prior to complying with 5 

the requirements of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E) and General Order dated 6 

March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the requirements of the General 7 

Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  Mr. Rachal is present for Commission Staff 8 

and there is no one present in the Courtroom on behalf of Uncle Sam’s Moving 9 

Corps, LLC.  How does the Staff plan to proceed this morning? 10 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff plans to move forward with this docket. 11 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you, Mr. Rachal.  You may proceed. 12 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Your Honor, Commission Staff is 13 

prepared to prove through both documentary and testimonial evidence that the 14 

carrier cited in this docket, Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps, LLC, violated Louisiana 15 

Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by engaging in activities related to moving 16 

household goods prior to complying with the requirements of Louisiana Revised 17 

Statute 45:164(E) and General Order dated March 16, 2021, and for failure to 18 

comply with the requirements of General Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  19 

Your Honor, as a result of that violation, at the conclusion of this hearing, the 20 

Commission is going to request that the carrier be found guilty for the alleged 21 

violations and that the carrier be fined in accordance with Louisiana Revised Statute 22 

45:171(C) and a $25 citation fee be issued to the carrier pursuant to Commission’s 23 
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General Order dated June 7, 2006.  Your Honor, at this time, we’d like to call our 1 

first witness, Ms. Karri Hebert. 2 

Karri Hebert came forth as a witness; and, after having been duly sworn, 3 

testified as follows: 4 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PAUL RACHAL 5 

MR. RACHAL: Good morning. 6 

MS. KARRI HEBERT:  Good morning. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  Can you please state your name and business address for the 8 

record? 9 

MS. HEBERT:  Karri Hebert, 602 North 5th Street, Baton Rouge, Louisiana  10 

70821. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And where are you employed? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  With the Louisiana Public Service Commission as an 13 

Enforcement Agent in the Transportation Division. 14 

MR. RACHAL:  And can you describe some of your job duties as Transportation 15 

Enforcement Agent? 16 

MS. HEBERT:  So I am the one that takes complaints and performs investigations 17 

on said complaints to determine if there’s any alleged wrongdoing on the 18 

company’s part. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  And what Commission orders and statutes require household 20 

goods carriers to obtain authority to transport passengers intrastate? 21 

MS. HEBERT:  Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E) and Commission’s General 22 

Order dated March 16, 2021. 23 
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MR. RACHAL:  And what statute gives the Commission authority to regulate 1 

motor carriers which transport household goods and -- other than those exempted 2 

in the Louisiana revised statutes? 3 

MS. HEBERT:  Title 45:163(A). 4 

MR. RACHAL:  And what statute prohibits nonregulated motor carriers from 5 

holding themselves out as available to the public generally for hire to transport 6 

household goods? 7 

MS. HEBERT:  Title 45:162(5)(A) and 45:164(E). 8 

MR. RACHAL:  And as part of your job duties that you discussed, are you the 9 

person who investigates carriers who may be operating without authority? 10 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And are you familiar with the carrier cited in this docket, Uncle 12 

Sam’s Moving Corps, LLC? 13 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir.  I’m the one that performed the investigation. 14 

MR. RACHAL:  And is this company a registered carrier with the Louisiana 15 

Public Service Commission? 16 

MS. HEBERT:  No, sir.  They’re not. 17 

MR. RACHAL:  And what type of carrier is this company? 18 

MS. HEBERT:  A household goods carrier. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  And why did you -- why were you directed to investigate this 20 

company? 21 
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MS. HEBERT:  I was directed by my Transportation Administrator Ms. Tammy 1 

Burl who received a complaint from a certified carrier that they were not authorized 2 

to be moving people. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  You have in front of you a document that’s been marked as Staff 4 

Exhibit 1.  Can you identify this document? 5 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir, I can.  It is the website printout from Uncle Sam’s 6 

Moving.  It is -- the web address is https://www.unclesamsmovingcorps.com.  The 7 

first page is a page showing that they are a moving and storage company for 8 

Louisiana.  It has a portion at the bottom for questions in regards to your move.  9 

The next -- the second page is a word from the founder, just a general statement of 10 

what he performs.  The next page just simply says turning your move into an 11 

outstanding experience.  Whatever was on that page obviously did not print out.  12 

The next page gives a -- page four gives a list of some of the services they provide, 13 

which also continues onto page five.  Page six is some frequently asked questions.  14 

Page seven just says veteran expertise for stress-free moves, which is a little bit 15 

about the company, just gives a little brief synopsis.  At the bottom, it shows that 16 

there’s four testimonies in reference to this company.  Page eight is one of the 17 

reviews, the rest of the reviews obviously did not print out.  Page nine, whatever 18 

was on that page did not print out.  It just is a blank page with Uncle Sam’s Moving 19 

Corps at the top.  Page 10, it says experience the Uncle Sam difference.  Page 11 is 20 

a blank page with just Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps at the top.  And page 12 is their 21 

contact us page, which has the phone numbers, the email, the business hours, and 22 
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the service area, which includes Mandeville, Covington, New Orleans, Jefferson 1 

Parish, and the Northshore. 2 

MR. RACHAL:  Can you give us the -- I know you said page 12 had the contact 3 

information.  What was the phone number and the email listed on that page? 4 

MS. HEBERT:  The phone number is (985) 377-3433 and the email is 5 

mike@unclesamsmovingcorps.com. 6 

MR. RACHAL:  And what was the date that you printed this out? 7 

MS. HEBERT:  October 3, 2025. 8 

MR. RACHAL:  And what was the reason that you printed this document? 9 

MS. HEBERT:  This document is evidence that Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps is 10 

holding themselves out as household good moving services. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And there was no LPSC number on this website either? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  No, sir. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff moves to offer, file, and introduce into 14 

evidence Staff Exhibit 1, the printout for Uncle Sam’s Moving website. 15 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 1 is admitted. 16 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And what did the Transportation 17 

Division do next in the investigation? 18 

MS. HEBERT:  I continued to search the internet for more advertising related to 19 

Uncle Sam’s Moving Corporation -- Corps, I’m sorry. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  You have in front of you a document that’s been marked 21 

as Staff Exhibit 2.  Do you recognize this document? 22 
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MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir, I do.  It is a three-page document.  They’re all listed as 1 

one of one because Yelp only allowed me to print out one page, then go down, print 2 

out the next one, and then go down and print out the next.  But this is a three-page 3 

document.  It is a claimed document from their Yelp page showing their phone 4 

number, their address.  Down at the bottom, it gives a little bit about the business.  5 

The second page gives their business hours, the amenities and more.  Shows that 6 

they’re veteran-owned, they accept credit cards.  It starts with the reviews at the 7 

bottom of the next page.  And then the third page is all reviews related to the 8 

company. 9 

MR. RACHAL:  And what was the date of printout on this document? 10 

MS. HEBERT:  This was also October 3, 2025. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And what’s the phone number that’s on this document? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  (985) 377-3433. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  And what was the reason for printing out this document? 14 

MS. HEBERT:  This document is further showing that they are advertising 15 

themselves as home good movers.  At the top, it does say movers and packing 16 

services. 17 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff moves to file and introduce into evidence, 18 

Staff Exhibit 2, the printout of the Yelp page for Uncle Sam’s Moving. 19 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 2 is admitted. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And what did the Transportation 21 

Division do next in the investigation? 22 
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MS. HEBERT:  I continued to search the internet for more advertising relating to 1 

Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps. 2 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  In front of you, you have a document marked as Staff 3 

Exhibit 3.  Do you recognize this document? 4 

MS. HEBERT:  I do. 5 

MR. RACHAL:  And what is this document? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  This document is their Instagram page.  It -- got a short biography 7 

of them at the top.  It also has six pictures on the first page, and on the second page, 8 

there is another six pictures.  Instagram works where if you don’t have an 9 

Instagram, it doesn’t show you what posts are related to those pictures, but it does 10 

show you the pictures that they have posted. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And does it have the truck with the number on it? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  It does. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  The phone number for the company.  What’s the number again?  14 

If you can make it out, I’m not sure. 15 

MS. HEBERT:  It is (985) 377-3433.  I have pretty good eyes. 16 

MR. RACHAL:  And what’s the address on the very bottom left corner? 17 

MS. HEBERT:  It is https://www.instagram.com/unclesamsmoving/. 18 

MR. RACHAL:  And what date did you print out this document? 19 

MS. HEBERT:  October 3, 2025 as well. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  And what was the reason, again, for printing this out? 21 
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MS. HEBERT:  It further -- it’s evidence of them further advertising as home good 1 

movers.  It literally says at the top, veteran-owned moving company in Mandeville, 2 

Louisiana. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you.  Your Honor, Staff moves to offer, file, introduce 4 

into evidence Staff Exhibit 3, the printout of the Instagram page for Uncle Sam’s 5 

Moving Corps. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 3 is admitted. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Okay.  You have a document in front 8 

of you that’s been marked as Staff Exhibit 4.  Can you identify this document? 9 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir.  It is a Secretary of State page.  It is a two-page document. 10 

MR. RACHAL:  And what’s the address for the company on this page? 11 

MS. HEBERT:  2435 Florida Street, Mandeville, Louisiana  70448. 12 

MR. RACHAL:  And who is the registered agent and his address? 13 

MS. HEBERT:  Mr. Michael Smith and his address is 2435 Florida Street, 14 

Mandeville, Louisiana  70448, same as the company. 15 

MR. RACHAL:  And when was their last report filed? 16 

MS. HEBERT:  December 5, 2024. 17 

MR. RACHAL:  And when was this printed out? 18 

MS. HEBERT:  October 3, 2025 as well. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff moves to offer, file, and introduce into 20 

evidence Staff Exhibit 4, the printout for the Secretary of State’s office for Uncle 21 

Sam’s Moving Corps. 22 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 4 is admitted. 23 



LPSC Transportation Citation Hearings 
March 5, 2026 

11 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  And what was the next step after 1 

looking at the website presence and the printout of the Secretary of State? 2 

MS. HEBERT:  I issued a warning letter to them, advising them to either cease 3 

advertising as moving or to obtain authority through our agency. 4 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  You have a document before you that’s been marked as 5 

Staff Exhibit 5.  Do you know what this document is? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir.  It’s the letter that I prepared. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  And to whom was this document sent? 8 

MS. HEBERT:  It was sent to Mr. Michael Smith with Uncle Sam’s Moving 9 

Corps. 10 

MR. RACHAL:  And can you give us the email address that’s on this document? 11 

MS. HEBERT:  Mike@unclesamsmovingcorps.com. 12 

MR. RACHAL:  And was it also mailed? 13 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir.  It was mailed to 20017 LA 36 in Covington, LA  70433, 14 

which was a address that we got from the Yelp page, which is a claimed page.  And 15 

then it was also mailed to 2435 Florida Street, Mandeville, LA  70448, which was 16 

gotten from the Secretary of State page. 17 

MR. RACHAL:  And when was this document sent? 18 

MS. HEBERT:  It is dated for October 8, so it would’ve been sent out October 8.  19 

I usually send them out same day as I prepare them. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  And I might’ve missed this, where did you get the email address 21 

from? 22 
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MS. HEBERT:  The email address came from -- it came from the website where 1 

down at the bottom on the contacts page it says 2 

mike@unclesamsmovingcorps.com. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  And I know you -- I’m just going to ask you to just describe it 4 

again.  What does this letter indicate, again, to Uncle Sam’s? 5 

MS. HEBERT:  It explains -- it gives them instructions on ceasing advertising as 6 

a household good mover and instructions on how to become -- to gain authority 7 

with our agency. 8 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  Your Honor, Staff moves to offer, file, introduce into 9 

evidence, Staff Exhibit 5, the letter sent to Uncle Sam’s. 10 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 5, correspondence dated October 8, 2025 to Uncle 11 

Sam’s, is admitted. 12 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  So after that, what was the next step in 13 

the process? 14 

MS. HEBERT:  After waiting the allotted time, the deadline for Uncle Sam’s was 15 

November 10, 2025 on the letter.  After waiting the allotted time and no response 16 

from them, I proceeded with a -- to prepare a citation for review.  I’m sorry. 17 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  You have in front of you a document marked as Staff 18 

Exhibit 6, in globo.  Do you recognize this document? 19 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir, I do. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  And what is this document? 21 
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MS. HEBERT:  This document is the citation that was sent to Uncle Sam’s 1 

Moving, along with a printout of the website, the 12-page printout of the website.  2 

Also, a printout of the Yelp page, and the Instagram, and the letter as well. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  And to whom was this document sent? 4 

MS. HEBERT:  The document was sent to Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps. 5 

MR. RACHAL:  And what’s the address on the citation? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  2435 Florida Street, Mandeville, Louisiana  70448. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  Did the citation also include the Secretary of State printout? 8 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, I’m sorry.  That would’ve been something we would’ve 9 

included in it as well. 10 

MR. RACHAL:  And how come the Florida Street address is the only address on 11 

the citation?  Or it was only sent to that address and not the other address? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes.  It was only sent to that address, not the other address because 13 

that was the one that was -- that we could verify from the Secretary of State. 14 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  It’s on the Secretary of State.  Okay.  I got you.  And what 15 

does this document indicate? 16 

MS. HEBERT:  It advises them that they are ordered to appear for a hearing on 17 

Thursday, March 5, 2026, at 9:30 A.M., at the Louisiana Public Service 18 

Commission, at the Galvez Building, which is 602 North 5th Street, the 11th floor. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  And on the second page -- according to the second page, when 20 

was this mailed out? 21 

MS. HEBERT:  It was mailed out on December 2, 2025. 22 

MR. RACHAL:  And whose signature is on this citation? 23 
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MS. HEBERT:  The Transportation Administrator Ms. Tammy Burl. 1 

MR. RACHAL:  And who prepared the citation? 2 

MS. HEBERT:  I did. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  And was notice of this citation published and available to the 4 

general public in the Commission’s Official Bulletin Number 1364 dated December 5 

5, 2025? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir, it was. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  Your Honor, Staff moves to offer, file, introduce into 8 

evidence Staff Exhibit 6, in globo, the citation with its attachments. 9 

JUDGE FREY:  Staff Exhibit 6, in globo, is admitted. 10 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Okay.  Was this citation mailed by 11 

USPS certified mail? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  And was the certified mail claimed? 14 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 15 

MR. RACHAL:  You have a document in front of you -- in front of you that’s 16 

marked as Staff Exhibit 7.  Do you recognize this document? 17 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir.  It’s the domestic return receipt which was attached to 18 

the citation. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  And what’s the address on this document? 20 

MS. HEBERT:  2435 Florida Street, Mandeville, Louisiana  70448. 21 

MR. RACHAL:  And where did this address come from? 22 

MS. HEBERT:  That is the address from the Secretary of State. 23 
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MR. RACHAL:  And what does this document indicate? 1 

MS. HEBERT:  It indicates that it was -- it is claimed by, it appears to be, Mr. 2 

Michael Smith.  And it also has the docket date -- I’m sorry, the docket number at 3 

the bottom, which is T-37797. 4 

MR. RACHAL:  And what is the date of delivery that’s next to the signature? 5 

MS. HEBERT:  January 5, 2026. 6 

MR. RACHAL:  And what are the last six numbers on the green card? 7 

MS. HEBERT:  613963. 8 

MR. RACHAL:  And do those match the last six digits on Staff Exhibit 6, in globo, 9 

the citation? 10 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And then what date did the LPSC receive this document? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  January 12, 2026. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  Okay.  Your Honor, Staff moves to file and introduce into 14 

evidence the USPS domestic return receipt, the green card, as Staff Exhibit 7.  I 15 

believe you have the original copy for your inspection. 16 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you, Mr. Rachal.  I have what has been offered as Staff 17 

Exhibit 7, and I do have the original, which is the original certified mail return 18 

receipt.  And I can see that the copies offered as Staff Exhibit 7 match that of the 19 

original.  Staff Exhibit 7 is admitted. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Has this carrier made any attempt to 21 

communicate with you? 22 

MS. HEBERT:  No, sir. 23 
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MR. RACHAL:  And has this carrier filed an application to transport household 1 

goods with the Commission? 2 

MS. HEBERT:  No, sir. 3 

MR. RACHAL:  And as of today -- as of today, are the websites still online to 4 

your knowledge? 5 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 6 

MR. RACHAL:  All right.  Your Honor, I have no further questions. 7 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you, Ms. Hebert.  Just a few clarifying questions. 8 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 9 

JUDGE FREY:  So has the carrier cited in this matter ever had Commission 10 

authority to transport household goods intrastate? 11 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 12 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  And do you -- can you give me the history on that 13 

authority? 14 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am.  That’s all before I got here.  I only got here in 15 

September. 16 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  So as of the --  17 

MS. HEBERT: I did look at their page in the LPSC, and I did see that they have 18 

previous authority.  I know that it’s been cancelled since. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, if I may, I’m going to call Tammy Burl, and she’s 20 

going to give the history of the carrier.  I’m going to ask her questions about the 21 

history of the carrier. 22 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  Ms. Hebert, you testified that the exhibits 1 

that were admitted as Staff 1, 2, and 3, which is the website, the Yelp page, and the 2 

Instagram. 3 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 4 

JUDGE FREY:  You viewed and printed those on or around October 3, 2025; is 5 

that correct? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 7 

JUDGE FREY:  And on the date that you printed those, did the carrier have 8 

authority? 9 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am. 10 

JUDGE FREY:  And you stated that you have not talked to anyone from the carrier 11 

since you’ve began your investigation? 12 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am. 13 

JUDGE FREY:  I just want to walk through the -- through Exhibits 1, 2, and 3, 14 

briefly, Ms. Hebert. 15 

MS. HEBERT:  Okay. 16 

JUDGE FREY:  Can you just point out in each one of these printouts, where you 17 

drew the conclusion that they are or if you -- let me ask it this way.  Let’s look at 18 

Staff Exhibit 1, the webpage. 19 

MS. HEBERT:  Sure. 20 

JUDGE FREY:  So from this, did you draw a conclusion that they were conducting 21 

household good moves within the state of Louisiana? 22 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 23 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  Can you just point -- can you just point to me where in the 1 

website led you to that conclusion? 2 

MS. HEBERT:  Okay.  So the first page, it says moving and storage services across 3 

Louisiana.  Serving Mandeville, Louisiana and surrounding regions.  We offer 4 

stress-free relocation services with care.  We provide local and long distance 5 

moving, packing, and storage solutions.  Our dedicated team ensures a smooth 6 

transition to our valued community members.  Also, on the 12th page, it also gives 7 

their service area, which it says we proudly serve Mandeville, Covington, New 8 

Orleans, Jefferson Parish, and the Northshore, LA. 9 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you.  And can you do the same for Exhibit Number 2, the 10 

Yelp page? 11 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma’am.  At the top it says movers packing services.  So they 12 

actually label themselves as movers and packing services.  And being that it is 13 

claimed, it does show that they are the ones that are actually managing the site.  So 14 

they are the ones that are actually managing this page.  It gives a little bit about the 15 

business at the bottom, and then all their reviews are from the Louisiana -- well, 16 

most of their -- the first review is from the Louisiana area.  It is Ms. Maureen G., 17 

and her services were performed around August 19, 2025, where it says that they 18 

were able to help me move a house full of furniture into storage on short notice 19 

because my new place wasn’t ready yet.  And she is from the Kenner, Louisiana 20 

area. 21 

JUDGE FREY:  And the same for Exhibit 3. 22 
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MS. HEBERT:  So Exhibit 3 is their Instagram page, which literally says at the 1 

top veteran-owned moving company in Mandeville, LA. 2 

JUDGE FREY:  And did any of the advertisements that were offered as Exhibits 3 

1, 2, and 3 contain an LPSC number? 4 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am.  They did not. 5 

JUDGE FREY:  Did you print the Secretary of State business search results? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 7 

JUDGE FREY:  When you were discussing issuing the citation, you said you 8 

waited until the deadline.  Can you just expound a little bit on what you were 9 

referring to, Ms. Hebert? 10 

MS. HEBERT:  So whenever we issue a warning letter to a company to cease 11 

advertising or to get LPSC authority, we give them a deadline of when to send their 12 

application in, along with their fees, and certain other things that go along with it.  13 

We give them a little more time if they need, but they never requested an extension 14 

or anything, but --so whenever we sent out the letter, they were given a deadline of 15 

November 10, 2025 to get their authority -- to get their application in to us and 16 

achieve authority. 17 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  So in the October 8, 2025 correspondence, you gave them 18 

a deadline of November 10, 2025 --  19 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 20 

JUDGE FREY:  -- to comply? 21 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am.  And then it says the full compliance must also be 22 

within 30 days of receiving their application. 23 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  And you prepared and mailed the letter dated October 8? 1 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 2 

JUDGE FREY:  Was the letter that you sent on October 8, was that returned for 3 

any reason? 4 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am. 5 

JUDGE FREY:  And it was sent USPS regular mail? 6 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 7 

JUDGE FREY:  And do you know if the email was kicked back or returned as 8 

undeliverable for any reason? 9 

MS. HEBERT:  No, ma'am. 10 

JUDGE FREY:  Was the citation also sent by USPS regular mail or just certified? 11 

MS. HEBERT:  Just certified. 12 

JUDGE FREY:  Do you have Staff Exhibit 7 in front of you? 13 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 14 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  And I’m going to present Ms. Hebert with the original, 15 

just in case that helps.  So I’m giving her the original of Staff Exhibit 7.  Is there a 16 

signature and a printed name on the return receipt? 17 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, ma'am. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  I know in your testimony you said it appeared to be signed by 19 

Mr. Smith.  I mean, what made you reach that conclusion? 20 

MS. HEBERT:  So his name is Michael Smith, and he signed it M. W. Smith. 21 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  So, Ms. Hebert, from the information that we have, how 22 

do you just connect the dots from -- how do you connect the dots across this 23 
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information that the Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps that was cited at 2435 Florida 1 

Street, Mandeville, is the same Uncle Sam’s Moving that appears in the 2 

advertisements?  Just what did you rely on to connect those dots? 3 

MS. HEBERT:  So each advertisement is listed as Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps, 4 

and they are registered with the Secretary of State as Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps, 5 

LLC. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  Other than the name, is there anything else that connects the dots? 7 

MS. HEBERT:  There are -- one second.  It’s a little -- I mean, they have multiple 8 

pictures of the owner of it.  He’s on the website as well standing in front of one of 9 

his trucks.  It’s also on the Instagram of him standing in front of one of his trucks.  10 

There’s also multiple pictures on the Yelp page of him standing in front of one of 11 

the trucks.  I’m sorry, in back of a sign that says Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps as 12 

well.  And then the phone number on the Yelp page is also the same phone number 13 

that is on the Uncle Sam’s Moving website, and that’s Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps, 14 

LLC.  That’s the address that was registered as the domicile address for the 15 

company on the Secretary of State. 16 

JUDGE FREY:  You stated there was pictures of the owner.  I mean, how are you 17 

concluding that the pictures -- have you met the owner?  I mean, how do you know 18 

it’s the owner? 19 

MS. HEBERT:  On the second page, it shows him standing in front, and it says a 20 

word from our founder under it. 21 

JUDGE FREY:  And this is on the website? 22 
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MS. HEBERT:  I’m sorry.  On the website, yes, ma'am.  I probably should be more 1 

specific about that.  I’m sorry about that. 2 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  All right.  Do you have any follow up questions for Ms. 3 

Hebert, Mr. Rachal? 4 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PAUL RACHAL 5 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes, Your Honor.  I just want to -- the second page on the website 6 

--  7 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 8 

MR. RACHAL:  -- does it say who the owner is?  It says, hi, I’m Mike Smith. 9 

MS. HEBERT:  It says, hi, I’m Mike Smith, and 15 years ago I started Uncle Sam’s 10 

Moving Corps with a clear purpose. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  Is that the same name that’s on the Secretary of State website as 12 

well? 13 

MS. HEBERT:  Yes, sir. 14 

MR. RACHAL:  That’s all the questions I have, Your Honor. 15 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you.  I have nothing further, Ms. Hebert.  You can step 16 

down. 17 

MS. HEBERT:  Here you go, Judge. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you. 19 

MS. HEBERT:  You’re welcome. 20 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, at this time, we’d like to call our second witness, 21 

Ms. Tammy Burl. 22 
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Tammy Burl came forth as a witness; and, after having been duly sworn, 1 

testified as follows: 2 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PAUL RACHAL 3 

MR. RACHAL:  Good morning. 4 

MS. TAMMY BURL:  Good morning. 5 

MR. RACHAL:  Can you please state your name and business -- can you please 6 

state your name and business address for the record? 7 

MS. BURL:  Tammy Burl.  602 North 5th Street, Baton Rouge, Louisiana  70802. 8 

MR. RACHAL:  And by whom are you employed? 9 

MS. BURL:  The Louisiana Public Service Commission as the Transportation 10 

Administrator. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And what do your duties include as the Transportation 12 

Administrator? 13 

MS. BURL:  I oversee the day-to-day operations of the division, which includes 14 

those carriers that are regulated by the Commission, as well as any investigations 15 

that are conducted by my Staff for unregulated carriers. 16 

MR. RACHAL:  And your duties include reviewing household good complaint 17 

investigations? 18 

MS. BURL:  Yes.  In coordination with my agents. 19 

MR. RACHAL:  And do you approve -- and do you also approve citations to be 20 

issued to companies that have been determined to have violated the Commission’s 21 

rules and regulations relative to household good carriers? 22 

MS. BURL:  Yes, I do. 23 
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MR. RACHAL:  And are you familiar with the carrier cited in this docket? 1 

MS. BURL:  Yes, I am. 2 

MR. RACHAL:  And can you give me a brief history of the carrier’s history with 3 

the Commission? 4 

MS. BURL:  The carrier has held authority with the Public Service Commission 5 

on three separate occasions, and they have also been cited for this same alleged 6 

violation in two previous dockets. 7 

MR. RACHAL:  And when did they first gain authority with the Commission? 8 

MS. BURL:  So they were first granted LPSC 7844 on September 23, 2013. 9 

MR. RACHAL:  And how many times has the carrier been cited total, including 10 

this citation? 11 

MS. BURL:  They have been cited eight times, including this citation for either 12 

violations, or non-compliance issues when they had their authority. 13 

MR. RACHAL:  And can you explain what they’ve been cited for in the past? 14 

MS. BURL:  Yes.  So they have been cited in the past, two violations for engaging 15 

in activities related to moving household goods prior to complying with the 16 

Commission’s requirements and the revised statute.  They’ve been cited one time 17 

for violating the Estimate General Order.  They’ve been cited twice for insurance 18 

violations when they had their LPSC authority, and they have been cited twice for 19 

annual report violations when they had LPSC authority, and then this alleged 20 

violation here today. 21 

MR. RACHAL:  And what are the amount of fines that have been previously 22 

assessed to the carrier by the Commission? 23 
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MS. BURL:  In the -- in two of the dockets, in T-34739, they pled guilty by 1 

affidavit.  They were fined 2,000 with 1,000 suspended, and agreed to a $25 citation 2 

fee.  They did not meet the terms of that stipulation, and the $1,000 that was 3 

suspended was then assessed to the carrier, and that was in February of 2018.  In 4 

June of ’22, they were issued a citation, T-36467.  The carrier pled guilty, and that 5 

violation, they were fined 2,000 with 1,000 suspended, and a $25 citation fee.  The 6 

$1,025 was paid.  I failed to say that in the previous 2018 violation, they had paid 7 

those fines and fees as well.  They also were cited in their -- they were also cited in 8 

their Estimate Order, and in that citation, they were fined $200 and a $25 citation 9 

fee, and then they’ve also been assessed late fees for annual reports and citation 10 

fees in the other docketed matters. 11 

MR. RACHAL:  And in Staff seeking that Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps be found 12 

guilty of violating Louisiana Revised Statutes Title 45:161 through 180.1 by 13 

engaging in activities related to house --  to moving household goods prior to 14 

complying with the requirements of the Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E), and 15 

General Order dated March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the 16 

requirements of General Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended? 17 

MS. BURL:  Yes. 18 

MR. RACHAL:  And is Staff seeking a fine for violating the Louisiana Revised 19 

Statutes Title 45:164(E) and General Order dated March 16, 2021? 20 

MS. BURL:  Yes.  A fine in the amount of $4,000. 21 

MR. RACHAL:  And why is the Commission asking for a $4,000 fine in this 22 

docket? 23 
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MS. BURL:  Uncle Sam’s has a history of violations and non-compliance with the 1 

Commission.  Since 2013, he’s held authority three different times in LPSC 7844, 2 

LPSC 8174, and LPSC 8444.  They have -- all three of these authorities have been 3 

cancelled for violating Commission orders and Title 45:164(E), and other parts of 4 

Title 45:161 through 180.1, as well as the General Orders dated March 16, 2021 5 

and April 3, 2008.  And because of this history, we are requesting a $4,000 fine. 6 

MR. RACHAL:  And what is the reasoning for that amount again? 7 

MS. BURL:  In past dockets, carriers who have been repeat offenders have been 8 

fined double or more of their previously ordered fines that were approved by the 9 

Commission.  Two dockets that I have recollection of at the moment are going to 10 

be T-36184 to Supermovers, I believe, and then T-37409 to Tiger Airport Express, 11 

if I’m not mistaken, that was the name on that one. 12 

MR. RACHAL:  And what General Order authorizes the LPSC to assess a $25 13 

citation fee to carriers that are cited by the Transportation Division? 14 

MS. BURL:  General Order dated June 7, 2006. 15 

MR. RACHAL:  And does Staff also seek that the carrier pays a $25 citation fee 16 

as authorized by the June 7, 2006 General Order for this citation? 17 

MS. BURL:  Yes. 18 

MR. RACHAL:  I just have a couple of other questions, the April 3, 2008 General 19 

Order amended, is that because they’re not listing their LPSC number on their 20 

websites?  Is that what that General Order refers to? 21 

MS. BURL:  Correct.  That although they have had previous LPSC numbers, they 22 

don’t currently have a valid LPSC number, which is not in their advertisement, 23 
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which is required for them to have authority -- if they have authority, to have that 1 

LPSC number listed. 2 

MR. RACHAL:  And going back to Staff Exhibit 1, on page two, can you confirm 3 

that’s the owner?  Have you met the owner of Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps? 4 

MS. BURL:  Yes.  I have met Michael, Mike Smith, on numerous occasions, and 5 

I can confirm, this is Mr. Smith. 6 

MR. RACHAL:  No further questions, Your Honor. 7 

JUDGE FREY:  Excuse me.  Sorry about that.  Ms. Burl, when you were 8 

discussing Uncle Sam’s compliance history, I believe you mentioned they were 9 

cited one time for their estimated quarter, or can you just explain what you meant 10 

by that? 11 

MS. BURL:  The Commission, and I’m sorry, I didn’t bring the General Order 12 

with me, but the General Order -- the Commission has a General Order that requires 13 

household good movers to provide estimates to the carriers prior to the moving.  14 

There was a complaint filed in that docket, which led to an investigation of their 15 

rates, and also led to an investigation on whether or not they provided an estimate 16 

to the person they were moving.  They did not, to my recollection.  I think that there 17 

was an affidavit and stipulation where they agreed to that $200 fine and the $25 18 

citation fee. 19 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you.  And in the compliance history, you referenced -- I 20 

think you said they’ve been cited a total of eight times, including the current 21 

citation? 22 

MS. BURL:  Yes. 23 
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JUDGE FREY:  And that was two times for operating -- in short hand form, 1 

operating before complying with the rules or operating without the requisite 2 

authority.  One time for no estimate.  Was that two times for no insurance? 3 

MS. BURL:  Yes. 4 

JUDGE FREY:  And two times for annual report? 5 

MS. BURL:  Correct. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  And I know you referenced some stipulations.  Do you recall the 7 

outcomes for the previous citations?  Is it a mixture of adjudicated guilty and 8 

stipulations, or are they all stipulations; do you recall? 9 

MS. BURL:  They were all stipulations approved by the Commission. 10 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  Given the fact that based on your recollection, all of the 11 

previous citations were resolved through stipulations, is it fair to say that Uncle 12 

Sam’s cooperated in the past investigations? 13 

MS. BURL:  In the past investigations, yes. 14 

JUDGE FREY:  And then this time, did you have any contact with Mr. Smith 15 

throughout the Staff’s investigation or the citation process? 16 

MS. BURL:  No.  Mr. Smith has my name, he has my phone number.  It’s been the 17 

same since I’ve been at the Commission, since 2002.  He has not reached out to me 18 

in reference to this citation or any investigations that Agent Hebert conducted. 19 

JUDGE FREY:  All right.  I have no further questions for Ms. Burl.  Mr. Rachal, 20 

any follow up for Ms. Burl? 21 

MR. RACHAL:  No, Your Honor. 22 
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JUDGE FREY:  Thank you.  Will Ms. Burl -- well, this is the only one we’re doing 1 

today, right? 2 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes.  Yes, Your Honor. 3 

JUDGE FREY:  You indicated that off the record.  If you have nothing further for 4 

Ms. Burl, you may step down. 5 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, can I ask that you take judicial notice of the two 6 

dockets that Ms. Burl mentioned in her testimony, T-36184 and T-37409? 7 

JUDGE FREY:  I can take judicial notice of those.  I don’t have them to look at to 8 

confirm, but subject to review of those orders and those matching Ms. Burl’s 9 

testimony, I can take judicial notice.  Or I can take judicial notice of whether they 10 

end up applying or not.  There were also two dockets, and I want to -- and if we 11 

need to recall Ms. Burl to confirm, there were other dockets referenced in relation 12 

to fines for the carrier.  One was T-34739 I believe, and the other was T-36467, if 13 

Staff would like to request that I take judicial notice of those as well? 14 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes, Your Honor.  We would. 15 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay. 16 

MR. RACHAL:  Would you like these? 17 

JUDGE FREY:  Since that is something that -- for the record, Mr. Rachal showed 18 

me what appeared to be a document, not a Commission order, maybe something 19 

prepared by Staff for their notes.  And since that isn’t the -- doesn’t appear to be 20 

orders of the Commission, I will decline to take that unless you want to recall Ms. 21 

Burl and have her testify about it. 22 

MR. RACHAL:  No, Your Honor.  That’s fine. 23 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  All right.  So I will take judicial notice of the four orders 1 

we just referenced, and if applicable, I can apply them.  All right.  Mr. Rachal? 2 

MR. RACHAL:  In closing, Your Honor, Commission Staff submits that it’s borne 3 

the burden of proving by documentary and testimonial evidence, that Uncle Sam’s 4 

Moving Corps, LLC, violated Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by 5 

engaging in activities related to house moving -- to moving household goods prior 6 

to complying with the requirements of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E), as well 7 

as Commission’s General Order March 6, 2021 Section III(1), and for failure to 8 

comply with the requirements of General Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  9 

As Ms. Burl indicated, Staff is seeking that the company be found guilty of this 10 

violation, and that Uncle Sam’s Moving Corps be ordered to pay a fine of 4,000 in 11 

accordance with Louisiana Revised Statute 45:171, as this is the carrier’s third 12 

offense violating Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by engaging in 13 

activities related to moving household goods prior to complying with the 14 

requirements of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E), and has a history of non-15 

compliance, lack of cooperation, the impact upon regular carriers that comply with 16 

and follow the rules and regulations of the Commission, and that the carrier be 17 

ordered to pay a citation fee of $25 as authorized by the June 7, 2006 General Order. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  All right.  So you -- I want to make sure I understood your 19 

argument.  You were saying this is the third offense of the violation -- alleged 20 

violation of 164(E); is that correct? 21 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes.  Yes, Your Honor. 22 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  All right.  You referenced Louisiana Revised Statutes 1 

45:161 through 181, in addition to specifically referencing 45:164(E).  So for this 2 

citation, what specific provisions of law are Staff referencing that -- alleging that 3 

the carrier has violated in 161 through 180.1? 4 

MR. RACHAL:  Commission’s General Order March 16, 2021 Section III(1), and 5 

the requirements of General Order dated April 3, 2008 amended. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  And the statutes? 7 

MR. RACHAL:  45:164(E). 8 

JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  So you’re alleging they violated 164(E) in addition to 9 

something in between 161 and 180.1, or just 164(E)? 10 

MR. RACHAL:  45:161 through 180.1 as well. 11 

JUDGE FREY: So you’re saying they violated every --  12 

MR. RACHAL:  All of it. 13 

JUDGE FREY:  -- single statute between 161 and 180.1?  I’m going to need 14 

specifics, Mr. Rachal, as to what statutes you’re alleging.  For every -- for the 15 

allegations made, alleged violation of 45:161 through 180.1, I want you to tell me 16 

what --  17 

MR. RACHAL:  I got it.  I’m sorry, Your Honor.  I have it. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  In the future, please do allow me to finish my question.  But you 19 

think you have the answer to what I need? 20 

MR. RACHAL:  Yes, Your Honor. 21 

JUDGE FREY:  Please, go ahead. 22 

MR. RACHAL:  Title 45:162(5)(A), and Title 45:164(E). 23 
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JUDGE FREY:  Okay.  And what act or omission by Uncle Sam’s are you alleging 1 

results in the violation of 162(5)(A)? 2 

MR. RACHAL:  Engaging in activities related to moving household goods prior 3 

to complying with the requirements of La. Revised Statute 45:164(E), and General 4 

Order dated March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the requirements of 5 

General Order dated April 3, 2008 as amended. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  Yeah.  That’s what the in re says.  Based on the testimony 7 

provided by your witnesses, what act or omission identified by your witnesses in 8 

their testimony results in that violation?  Is it the advertising, posting on the 9 

website?  Is that the act or omission that Staff is alleging results in the violation? 10 

MR. RACHAL:  It’s acting -- it’s advertising and holding themselves out as 11 

available to the public generally for hire to transport household goods, and for not 12 

having an LPSC number on their websites. 13 

JUDGE FREY:  Thank you.  Anything further, Mr. Rachal? 14 

MR. RACHAL:  No, Your Honor. 15 

JUDGE FREY:  All right.  Thank you.  If there is nothing further in this matter, 16 

this matter is adjourned. 17 

 18 

DOCKET NO. T-37798 19 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37798 - 20 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus Your Movers LLC.  In re:  Alleged 21 

violation of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, by engaging in 22 

activities related to moving household goods prior to complying with the 23 
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requirements of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:164(E) and General Order dated 1 

March 16, 2021, and for failure to comply with the requirements of General Order 2 

dated April 3, 2008 as amended.  Mr. Rachal is present on behalf of Commission 3 

Staff, and there is no one present in the Courtroom this morning on behalf of Your 4 

Movers LLC.  How does the Staff plan to move forward this morning? 5 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue to April 2, 2026. 6 

JUDGE FREY:  A ruling on the motion to continue and a notice rescheduling the 7 

hearing to April 2 will be issued accordingly. 8 

 9 

DOCKET NO. T-37814 10 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter is Docket Number T-37814 - Louisiana Public 11 

Service Commission versus Lagniappe Chauffeured Services LLC.  In re:  Alleged 12 

violation of Louisiana Revised Statute 45:161 through 180.1, and General Order 13 

dated April 25, 2012, by engaging in activities related to transporting passengers 14 

intrastate without LPSC authority.  Mr. Rachal is present on behalf of Commission 15 

Staff, and there is no one present on behalf Lagniappe Chauffeured Services LLC.  16 

How does the Staff plan to move forward? 17 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue without date. 18 

JUDGE FREY:  A ruling granting the motion to continue without date will be 19 

issued.  20 
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DOCKET NO. T-37816 1 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter is Docket Number T-37816 - Louisiana Public 2 

Service Commission versus LaFontaine Furniture Movers, LLC.  In re:  3 

Cancellation of Common Certificate Number 8219 for failure to maintain the 4 

required insurance coverage on file with the Commission pursuant to General 5 

Orders dated March 16, 2021 and October 13, 2023.  Mr. Rachal is present on 6 

behalf of Commission Staff, and there is no one present on behalf of LaFontaine 7 

Furniture Movers, LLC.  How does the Staff plan to move forward? 8 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to dismiss with prejudice.  9 

All issues have been resolved. 10 

JUDGE FREY:  An order dismissing this matter with prejudice will be issued 11 

accordingly. 12 

 13 

DOCKET NO. T-37818 14 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37818 - 15 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus Badeaux Limousine Service, Inc.  In 16 

re:  Cancellation of Common Carrier Certificate Number 6190 for failure to 17 

maintain the required insurance coverage on file with the Commission pursuant to 18 

General Orders dated March 16, 2021 and October 13, 2023.  I will note that there 19 

is a discrepancy between the in re, as I just read into the record, that appears on the 20 

Commission’s Official Bulletin and online document system, and that that is 21 

printed on the citation.  The in re as it appears on the citation only references the 22 

General Order dated October 13, 2023.  Mr. Rachal is present for Commission Staff 23 
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and there is no one present in the Courtroom this morning on behalf of Badeaux 1 

Limousine Service.  How does the Staff plan to move forward? 2 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue to April 2, 2026. 3 

 4 

DOCKET NO. T-37841 5 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37841 - 6 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus Breaux Performance Group, LLC dba 7 

College Hunks Hauling Junk and Moving.  In re:  Common Carrier -- hang on.  I 8 

just want to make sure.  Yes.  Sorry.  In re:  Cancellation of Common Carrier 9 

Certificate Number 8335 for failure to maintain the required insurance coverage on 10 

file with the Commission pursuant to General Orders dated March 16, 2021 and 11 

October 13, 2023.  Mr. Rachal is present for Commission Staff and no one is present 12 

on behalf of Breaux Performance Group, LLC.  How does the Staff plan to move 13 

forward? 14 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to dismiss with prejudice. 15 

JUDGE FREY:  An order dismissing this matter with prejudice will be issued 16 

accordingly. 17 

 18 

DOCKET NO. T-37842 19 

JUDGE FREY:  The next matter on the docket is Docket Number T-37842 - 20 

Louisiana Public Service Commission versus D & T Wholesale Inc. dba D & T 21 

Moving & Transfer.  In re:  Cancellation of Common Carrier Certificate Number 22 

7064-A for failure to file an annual report for 2025 and/or pay a late filing fee of 23 
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$500 and a citation fee of $25 as required by General Order 2 dated July 1, 1921 1 

and General Order dated March 18, 2021.  Mr. Rachal is present for Commission 2 

Staff and no one is present on behalf D & T Wholesale Inc.  How does the Staff 3 

plan to more forward? 4 

MR. RACHAL:  Your Honor, Staff requests a motion to continue to April 2, 2026. 5 

JUDGE FREY:  A ruling on the motion to continue and a notice rescheduling this 6 

matter to April 2 will be issued accordingly.  That is all the matters I have on the 7 

docket this morning.  Is there anything further from Commission Staff? 8 

MR. RACHAL:  Nothing from Staff, Your Honor. 9 

JUDGE FREY:  All right.  If there is nothing further, these hearings are adjourned. 10 

 11 

(WHEREUPON, THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED) 12 

13 
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